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Sidney Kay Side 1, page 1 000 Interviewer: Lucille Brown

S.K, My name is Sldney Kay.

L.B, Sidney Kay. And, were you born, where, please7 m Yhe w&o&,wwwﬂi
S.K. I was born in Lodz, Poland,..and industrialf %hich is knowm as a city of
textiles, and all different things, A

L.B. In what year, please?

S.X. 1903,

(Tape off) :

L.B., O0.K, Now, you were born in Lodz, and I have the map, a little map here,
this is the Kingdom of Poland., And Lodz had another name, didn't it?

S.K. No.

L.B., Vas that not Lublin?

S.K., No, Lublin is, it’s a city, and a well—known ¢ity, which has nothing to
with Lodz, and it's pretty far,

L.B, Where would ILodz be, on the map, here? About,

S.K. You see, it will be here, here you have {adswe . Here is VWarsaw,

L.,B., Yeah,

S.K. Now, here is Lodz, L-o-d~z, and here is Lublin,

L.,B., Ah hah,

S.K., You see, Lodz is closer to, uh, you see, this, it is in, in the, uh,
measure, Warsaw is the capital, Lodz is the second city, which population and,
and, and the growth, Lublin is,..,.far, and closer to the, uh, to the Russian
part already....it was not under Russian, but it was closer by...lodz was more
close to Germany. "
L.B. So, the, when, if you talked about lodz, had the Haskalah reached you
by the time you were a young boy?

S.K. The what?

L.B, The Haskalah, the Enlightenment.

S.K. Tne Haskalah, oh sure,

L.B, It did?

S.K. Yes,

L.B., All right. How, tell me something...Lod&, in 1903, you were born there, right?
S.K. Yes.,

L.B. Uh, how large was your family?

S.K. Uh, my, my...whole family, ory OT¢..

L.B. Your,..your immediate family,

S.K. Was, uhhh, 6,4 children, 2 brothers and, I mean, I and my brother, and

2 sisters, and my faﬁher and mother.

L.B. And you lived in a house, in an apartment”

S.K. Yes, in an apartment, sure,..together with parents, and uh.,. My father

was a, uh..,.a tallor.

L.B. Did he hire people, did people work for him, or did he dQ&pis own tailoring?
S.K. No, no, he, he worked, he workedfTéoplé, but he hiredWhHo worked with

him together. He was, uh, this, this was not like in, like here.

" L,B. Yo,

S.K. In, in, in the whole Europe, a tallor worked in his apzrtment where he lived.
L.B. Right, right.

S.X. And the most of the time, was in the big kitchen., It happened very often
that the kitchen, in the cities of Europe, in this part, even in France or in
Belgiumo X

L.B. Yes.

S.K. ...the kitchen was sometimes bigger, than, there was no livingroomn,

L.B. Yes. That sounds interesting, can you itell me about that? Cause I never
heard this before., How did the, uh, talloring business work out then? Did your
father get ai} contract or an order from somebody else?

S.X. No, no, he got private customers. The most of the time, the most fof,..
tallors, in, in Europe, you see, it was, it was unusual to buy suits...

L,B. Right.
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S.K.  ...for, for, let's say, middle-class people didn't buy sulits, because
it was only for the lower section of people who worked in megasins.
oB., lImm, stores.
K. A magasin means, not a magazine you read, magasin,
.B. lagasin, right, it's the French, right.
3.K. Yes., It, it, mag...it was, uh...in, in, in...what's a magazine called
in...yeah, I'd say magazine...you'd think it was a magazine of, to, to read,
right? :
L.B. No, right. ,
3.k, lMagasin, Now, the, s0 a tailor got his customers, and one recgomnended
the other, if the customer was satisfied, uh, with his, everything was, uh...
um, how it is called? Custom-made,
L.B, Right.
S.K. So anybody, even people who were not in the middle class, but more or
less, he made a decent living, living, uhhh, he went to a tailor, so there
were categories in tailoring. There were, there were tailors, let's say, my
78 father ) juoT , was a, uh, not a bad tailor, so-and-so, But when I grew
up and I established myself, T was married...and I was pretty well-off, so
I went to a higher class of - tailor than my father was, and he took 3 times as
much as my father took for a, for a suit, or for a manteau,
L.B. Now, how did your father work? In the kitchen?
S.K. In, yes,
L.B. He cut, he measured, he cut, he stitched...
8.K. The measuring was...ln the other room., You know, when the customer came,
you didn't make it in the kitchen, but so,..he invited him, you know, to the
next room to do, to the living-bedzoOm...
L.B. Salon, yeah, yeah, right,
S.K. ILiving-bedroom, Unh, %=, sweet ggirl, when I tell you this, there is no

stories in it.

=

LOB [ ] NO L] O s:(:ﬁ
8. K. There ls no show-ugzs.
L,B, No.

S.K. Becauss, the most of the people, when they get a interview, you know,
they, they would like to hide some aspects of their life which wouldn't
fulfill right now their situation.
L.B. No, I don't want that.
S.K. The majority do that.
L.B. Yes.
S,K. And if you took such interviews, and I'm sure,..if I would know those
people, they didn’t tell you one tenth of percent, the truth.
L.B. All right, but now you tell me the truth, SO...
S.X. I;m telling you,
L.B. Yoah, so we go into the living-bedroom, .. e

¢ S.K. But in the same token, my grandfather was in?Petrogiad, and he was a
tailor, he was a very rich man, You understand wha...what, eh, what it happens?
He was in a smaller town...
L,B. I¥m hm,
S.K. And he was also a tailor, but he was a very known, and he worked only

44" for Orthodox people, he made the long..Jjibbitzes, they were called jibbitzes,

- 44" jubitzes, and, and, it was like osch...anfggggdegg, you know what an oschdeir is?

‘ Uh, how you call here, an oschdeir? Gessniel
GK. A dowry., (Hhs wife Rudwcs:
S.K. A dowry, you know, when you get married, yow mother made your dowry, you
know, and everything, So it was...and, there was no places to spend money. So
my grandfather accunulated money, and then he lent money, he became a little,
like a little shylock. :
L.B., He was a, uh, money-lender,
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S.l{,
7 qu' and his name wasKlew Pmcwisel , which was known, anybody, everybodiilin the

citliof eﬁrokc? knew? Kh4n*%khuﬁﬂ, it you canme to the station, railroad station

085 Interviewer: Lucille Brown

And then, he, he, yes, he bought a house, he was an owner of a house,

g4, in Petroké, and fiyou wentdown to take a ﬁ;&ehre, you know a,..

L.B, Like a cab, Lere

S.K. A ca,..yeah, it, no, but it was with horsesS...

L.B, A horse-drawn cab, right.

S.K. ¥es, a horse-cab, And if you would say ”szenowsky", he would look at
you and say, "Listen, there is no such Kazenowsky among Jews,"

L.,B., Ma hm,

S.X. But if you would say ™7 "y he would say, "Why didn't you say

right away?" He would tell, he would take you,..to the, before was, bef,..the
987 First World VWar, before was,” “Vikovska, and when Poland was established it was

4§ " Pilsudskego, on the name of the great leader., I hope that you heard about Pilsudski,

L,B,
7 4\ S.K.
As a matter of fact, I mean,this house used to live the, uh, the grandson of

qq*. the, of the Rabbi of'fRaddischitz... Radishev

L.B. Im hn,

S.K. In which, you know, which, uh,....was, you know, important,..he didn't
y*" pay rent, and this is beautiful and’

L.B. But wait, I understand, but wait, we're getting out of, you know, sequence,

S.K. Yes, uh, uh, sure, but...

L.B. Now, let's go back to your father...

S.Ke eoowe will get out and we will come,...

L.B. Back in, right. '

S.K. +..back in,

L.B. Now let me get hack to your father, and finish telling us how...he went

about making a suit, that he would measure the person,..

S.K. Yes, he'd measure the person, yes, yeS...

LQB . 'y .in the 1iVing-bedr00m?

S.X. Yes; in the living-bedroon,

L,B. Right,

S.K. Because, this, this was a bedroom and a livingroom,..at the same time,

L.,B. Right. And then?

S.K, Unhhh,..

L.,B. He would take the material...

S.K. And then; no, and then he took, he'd take the measurement, and then he

I certsinly have, mm hm,
Yes, So, it was, the street was called, uh,”

took, on the big table in the kitchen wheich was, was a big kitchen; there was

nothing else to do in the kitchen but to prepare food, mother.,,mother prepared

food, And the other part, she haven't got nothing to do in the kitchen, So,
116" over there was the, it was called? ‘washtat, washtat means "the place of the

woantal Vit s b e

workmanghip",
L,B, From what language is that o rle cAad T
S.K. Tt is from German, the WSTESEa! cin WLifkild
L.B. Ahhh, O.X,, 0.X.
Wg". S.K. You know the? s which l1ls, are in a certain, uh,..distinction, mixed
up anyway.
L.B. I thought Polish was more like Russian,
S.K. It is. it is a Slavic language,
L.B, Han .
S.XK. But, you see, certain woxds,..were taken.,,
L.B. Vere taken from the 2Cerman,..
S.K. ...bccaube, you see, Poland WS occupied by Prussia, so then they took
some, the Heis tat so they mede washdidt,
L.B. Right. All right, now, let‘s finish the suit, so we satarted on.,..
S.K, Yeah, so, uh, then he, the man came 3 times, uh, to, uh, XY eus

g

—
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L.B. Un huh,

_—"8.K, 3 times, because this was made-to-order, custom-made, And, he %took the
suit out,
L.B. And he took the suit out. Now, nobody else worked on the suit but your
father?

S.K. My father and, and, and uh, 2 helpers.

L.B. ©Ch, he had 2 helpers,

S.K. He had 2 helpers, you couldn“t do a, uh, without helpers you couldn't
make a living,

L.,B. Now, wkere did the helpers work, did they sew for him, or cut, or what?
S.X. Tney sewed, no, no, no, my father cut, and they, he also sewed, and
they sewed, and everybody got his part, Eyou see, because a suit.,.is, uh,
it, it, it is divided in, in, in, 4 or 5 parts, to make a suit. There are

the 2, and the back, and, and the collar, and the sleeves. You understand?
L.B., Yes,

S.K., And evexybody, in oxder to, uh, to uh, to put this together, you got to
prepare it.

L,B. So it's almost like what happened here in the Garment Workers® Union,
where you got a certain portion, you worked on that, then it went to the next
worker and they worked on that, and so on, like plece...

S.K. Yes, yes, yes, yah, but, YeSsee

L.B, It's not piecework, it’s...

S.K. No, it®s not, because over there, everyone who learned this trade, knew
from A to Z.

L.B. They could make the whole thing,

S.K. They, they could, yes, because from, let's say, a young, a young man who
came 10, when he was 13, 14 years o0ld, when he started, by 19 years he could
be the tailor himself...

L.B. Right.

S.K. And if he, if he was, you know, able, and w1lling to work, he could,
by 19, 20 years old, open his own,,.atelier,
L.B. 8o, lecdz, at this time, then, was part of the Austro-Hungarian Empire,
S.K. No, no,
L.B. No?
S.X, The Prussian,
L.B. I8dz was part of tshe.es
S.K. The Pritssian,
L.B. ...0f the, uh,,.Gemanic States?
S.K. Yes.
L.B. It was not Austro-Hungary?
S.K. Vhat is your name?
L.B., Ilcdz? My name?
S.K. Yes; yes.
L.,B. ILucille,
S.X, ILucille, Iucille, here, here we have Lodz, right?
L.B. Right.xuj =
@2 S.K. Now, Kedaisl, is also, you see, this city, Kalnish, is laying on the
bordera v 0
L,B. Right.
T2 S.K.  ...between® Posen, and after Posen goes Germany,
L.B. Right,
S.K. Now, Posen was,..taken by the Germans. and Germanized,
L.B. Vhen?
S.X, In, in, uh, 17...74, 1775, when uh, we, uh, we.,.here, thez Americans
took over and becams a country, a republic,
L.B. Sp when did Lodz become part of Prussia?
S.K. IHen they,..
L,B, Was that when they split up the Kingdom of Poland in 3 parts?
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S.K. VWhen they split in 3...¥eSese

L.B. Aaaah...

S.K. Sure,

L.B., That was 17-, what?

S.K. 17“000

L.,B, %897

S.K. DNo, 1774, or 1775.

L.B, It was before the French Revolutvion?

S.K. Yes, in the, almost in the same time, Because, you see..,.179%, Napolean

already started.
L.B. You know, you have to help me with the history, because the fellow I
work withe..
S.K. VWhy don®t you know?
T°21 1Gell you wh¥ees
You were at college, University, everything.
How, walt a minutecas.
(Lavghs). I'm joking,
My history professore..
Yes.
. eo0.is the one who is working with me on this, he's the one who inter-
ewed Jack, and my father, and, uh, Kwartler, amd’7%t*@ctﬁuﬁﬂ
Wno? - ﬁ“
Kwartler, you know Leo Kwartler?
Kwartler.
Yeah, he's a friend of Jack®s.
He lives hefe?
No, he do¥rsn®t live herc. Anyway...
Ch, s0 I never heard, I'm surprised.
. A1l right. Anyway...he knows all these things, but I'm just studying,
you knOWg 350644
S.X. You are sure that he knows.,.your professor?
L.,B. Yeah, (Lavghs), I'm sure, So, I'm just learning some of these things,
Like, uh, this map is to help me, he doesn't need the map,
S.K. Yes.non0¢
L.B. 4nd, when, I usually interview the women...and we talk about slightly
different things, but when the men talk, they know, uh, they usually discuss
history, and =0 on, so I'm learning myself, I did not know that Lodz was part
of Prussia, and I didn®t realize when...he told us, but I didn't remenber,
when Poland was divided into 3, it was before, it was 17% you thlnk, then?
S.X., No, it was in 1775-6.
LoBo 17759
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S.K. 6r &, I mean, this...

L.B, Oh, you said 1794 was when Napolean came through.

S.K. NO.

L.B. BRight.

S.K. Napolean came through® a llttle later, but Napolean started already,

then he went through Poland, and, mater of fact...that he established a
Constitulion...

L.B. Right.

S.K‘ oooin Ebland.

L.B. That I know, all right. So you were actually Prussian citizens?

S.K. And he, he made, a, uh, his motto was, in Polish is "?Kazda obuvaten
jezuruvne voblitchu pravar®, "Bvery citizen has the right, in order of law,
has the same right.”

L.B. lMnam,

S.K. ‘This established, this is the Codex, Code, in Poland, Codex Napoleana,
the Codex of Napolean, .
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L.B. Yes, I understand, Now, you were actually, then, when you were bormn,

you were Prussian citlzens.

S.K. No, Russian.

L.B. Russian?

3,XK. Sure, Russian, I°m telling you, Russian,..

L.B. I thought you sald Frussian, )

§.K., Prussian was here...you see, Kalish...this was, because, Poles in Kalish.
I was...Russian, :

L.B., Azazaheees w

s.K. ILodz, you see, here,..this, everthing cha,..you see, this is the paxrt,
here, I will show you, if you have it on the map., You see, this is Frussia.
L.B. Right. - )

S.K. Even’ was Posen, it was Posnan, according tb the legend, the 3
brothers recognized each other, and it was called, "posnatche" means “recognize",
and there was the name Posnan, and this was Posen, So here..,.B0Ww here, madan,
here starts...this part, you see?

Yeah, cause this is already, 1is Austria...over here,

YeSees

That I know,

This is Galicia, it belonged to Austria.

Righta ‘Iha.t I learnedo OOK. So 'this...

To Austria,

Right. ‘

Yes. And, uh, this was, everytling was Russia, include Lublin,

Now, which one had the German name of Lemberg, was that Lublin?

No, Lvov, :

Lvov?

Yes. ‘

Oh, so that’s not on...herg it is, Lemberg,

Lemberg. . .you sce, here, CoonziiTessCl Chd, Lvovee...and here is
Stanislacooz, SO here starts already Rumania, and here 'Shniatinszalucha,
wheich wouldn't be here, is the last station between Rumania and Poland,
But Stanislau is the biggest city, so that's why. So it wwas to Hungaria.
L.B. So I'm learning some history...and geography, All right, now, sO you
were then under Russian,..rule? .

S.Ks  Yes, under, yes, under Russiallees
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- L,B, In 1903, when you were born.

AR\

S.K., TYes,
L.B. And you lived in an apzriment, and your father was a tailor, and there

were 6 people in your family.

S.K, Yes.
L.B., DNow, what kind of an apartment? Was 1t a building with other apartments in 1t
S.K. It was a, yes, , this was a huge building, with a lot of
apartments,
L.B. VWas it stone, or brick?

K. What?

.B. The building.

odhe Oh 9 briCk °

.B. Brick,

Brick, yes, it was a big house, a vexry big house.
ind Lodz was a big city, of about how many people?
650,000,

650,000, It was in the Pale?

Yes. : '

It was &n the Pale,

Yes, it means, Fale was, it meansee.

Right, where the Jews lived,
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S.K, . Sure...

L,B.' Right,

S.K. No, but this...Pale, was another section of lodz. (Pause). You see, Lodz...
L.B. No, I'm talking about the Fale being the section of Russia within which
the Jews could not, uh, from which they couldn®t go out.

S.K, No, in that time, no, they couldn't go,

L.B. Right, .

S.K. Because, to go, yes, I mean, this you call Pale.

L.B. Right,

S.K. Yes, sure it was lln1ted, you were, it was, uh, Russia was, especial the
big, the, the capital cities like Moscow, Petrograd, they were restricted to
Jews,

L.B. Im hn,

S.Ke To,.,81ll JeWSees

L.B., TYes,

S.K. eo.eexcept to ones here and there, . .

L.B, Right, wnalo Jud Swss

S.K. Like, if you would say...” “ﬂ“CdJ4V¢%7$@ » 50, how we got the language,
how we got this rotten...Jjargon? -

L.B. Yeah,

S.K.. From the Jew who went out from the‘ghetto, there were not many, they,‘ﬂk‘du45§ug
(nsodithe: r-zts) who was privélaged, who €553 money... -
LB, lm hnm,

S.K. So, they, those Jews who could go out of the ghetto in Germany..,.

L.B. !¥m hmn,

S.K. ...they brought back this language,

L.B., Now, which language are you talking about, is a rotten language? Yiddish?
S.K. Sure, and I speak a pretty, uh, well, Yiddish, and I love Yiddish, As

a matter of fact, you see that...

L,B. HNo, sit down...

S.Ke .o..Iam, I am reading® onéj fﬁwuﬁbwéb

LB, Yeah, I see, you sa¥...

S.K. 4And I don't read no English language,..what I mean,..

L.B. VWhy do you call it...

S.K. Because I'd rather have...,the day..,.How you say, uh, in Brookly, a, a
girdle?

L.B. You mean somethang you wear around youl...

5.K. Yeah, a girdle, how ould you call it in Brooklyn?

L.B, A girdle,

S.K., 4 goidle,

L.B. Oh, yeah,

S.K, No?

L.,B., Not gquite, no,

S.K. Oh yes. 4nd how is a girl?

L,B. No, it's note..

S.K, A goil,

L.B., I understand what you're saying.

S.K. Here comes ihe, the, the...

L.B. The? uhfﬂﬁ s you're saying.

S.K. Yes, So that's what they made from the German language, they, they built
it up, their own, like from weits%gﬁz I mean, werkstat, washtat...

L.B., Mm hm, werRst

S.K, So the people who went out, they brought back the, you know, this language.
And.,.

L,B., Now, do you conffider that Yiddish had a life of its own, a literature

of its OWlly 1515 RN
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g,K., It's not a rotten language, it's the most beautidul language, NOW, 2S5,
KR ¥

as a grammatic, as & stylistiCess -

(Tape off) (Phone ¢<ng§)
L.B. Now, we'res we'lre back in lodz, and you live in the apartment house,
and your father's a tailor, and you're born in 1903, We have to g0 back now,

because ve wWere interrupted.

S, K, Yes.
L.B. 4And you went to school.
S.K. Yes.

.B. Were you the oldest child?

5.K. I was the oldest sO0N.

L.,B. You were the oldest son?

S.K. 7Yes.

L.B. Not the oldest child?

S.K. ‘Tne oldest child, and the oldest s0n.
L.B. Oh, oh, because there's a difference.
S

3. K. Yes, we are 2 brothers, 2 sisters.
B. Rifht, Now, where'did you go to school?
s.K., In, in Lodz?
L.B. Yes.
g.K, I went, ubh, to a, I didn't go to a cheder.
1.B. You did not?
g. K. I went right away to a Hebrew school.
L.B. Hmmmm,
S, K, Tt was, 2y U, « o« shOW O tell you? (Long pause)...a preparation school,
L,B, For the gynnas?
X, Yes, a prepardtion school for gymnasium, for highg school.
.B. For which gymnass for a Hebrew gymnas OLsee
K, No, noy NOees
B. ...public, OT RussiaNees
3.,K. No, no, no, for a regular gymnasium...uh. gymasium, there, uth, 1 mean,
will mean, & gymnasium, in America iS...
L.B. High school,
S.Ke  40sd gymnasium, is a gymnas also, because here a gymnasium, you make
exercise; YOU.s.
1.B. No, it's not the same, gymnas, it's the high school you were preparing for,
g5, K. Yes, yes.
L.B. Right.
s, K. Yes; S0y and this Was...a Preparee.e.
L.B., ¥m hm.
g.K. And, where I learned, also, Hebrew, » you understand, and uh, and, oh,
and everything.
1,B., What else aid you learn? Tell me what you learned.
(Telephone rings, tape off)
g, K, It-was a uh, was not a cheder, was ap Uhse.
L.B. An academy, you said. wore oc e3%
S.K. As, as, as a yourg fellow, was not an, 1o, 1 was only 6 years 0ld, not
even, old, you knov, 6 years, uh, when uh, 1" started to go to the school, named,

vﬁf'ﬁmiéenburgQ were 2 brothers, and they led a very f£ine school, where, & Uhseose

1475,.01L"s not even nice to say, where & vetter class of children...

L,B. IMm hm.

g.K. You axe...where 2 vh, .. how to tell you? (Long pause). They're permitted,
or, ors uh, recelived.

L.B. Uh huh,

S.K. You know, a; & a better class, not from the, from the very poor who
couldn't afford it, because this was not a public school, out of the city, but
this was a private school. . Where I star€ed.
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So you paid...your, your father paid, to have you go?

sSure.

And whef did you learn there?

T learned.....secular education and, uh,..and Hebrew,

that did you learn in your secular education?

The first p%@ce, was, in Russian,

You learned”language, Russian? :

The language, yeah, the language, in Russian, Arithmetic, History, uh...
Wnat history? Russian Histoxry?

History of the woxld,

World Histoxy.

Wo, but you don't, you don't start, being 6 years old, learning...I'm
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+alking about what was the Program..

L.B. Right,

8,K. +..0f this, from one...class to another, you understand, by promotion,
EBut the start was...you know, like, Chumash and Russian,

L.,B. Chumash in Russian?

S.K. And Bussian,

L.B. And Russian, yes.

SnK. YeSQ‘i-

L.B. Yeah, yeah.

8. K. Chumash and Russian,

L.B. Right. vhe P3uchm .

S.K. And, then, uh, Tanach,* Epsuchim, and ’fhe¢ Feviem

LqB. Righﬁ, righ'tp righ’te

S.K. So, uh, this I learned by, a, uh, 3 years,

L.B. In what language did they teach you arithmetic, in Russlen?
S.K. Russian language, in the Russian language,

L.B. And all the teachers were Jewish?

S.K. Jewish, and, yes. And they were called Litvaks,

L.B. Yeah,

S.K, Yeah, well, the Russian,..they were Litvaks, you know, like from Litvak,
from Vilna,..

L.B. Yes, right,

S.K. ...which were, you know, vh,..were the...so, so far, the most, uh, well,
in mine opinion, in mine CGopinion the Russian Jews are the best Jews in the
world, I mean, uh, this is nine opinion, which I went through, in my wide
practice, which, what, I meant, whatl I met with people.

L.B. Um hm,

S.K. So, uh, I, I, I have mine opinion, there is known that the Russlian Jews
are very hospitable, and very good, and uh...even, they used to say, uh, they &
are, uh,’rishishichazin, because...the Russia are called Chazerim...

L.B. Yeah, ~7' "¢’

$.K. The Russians., But then, you, the people who live over there,’ adopting”
in the same epithet., Like, let®s say, the people in my city, Lodz was a
industrial city, and was called ﬁheiLodzeé@éi%&?? 8o everyone who was a POOT,
poor fellow, was called a Lodzegonif, Why? Because, the, they were business-
people, and in business, in that time, there, you know, got an opinion that
everybody's a gonif, So, uh, all right, this is b uh, defame, which it goes
after, uh, nations and people, and individuals,

L.B. Right.

S.K. Everyhody has his burden on his shoulder, which he doesn®t, uh, know it even,
L,B. Right, So you learned in Russian, and you learned in Hebrew...

§.K, In Russian, because Polish, Polish was not permitted, the Polish language,
L.B. So how daid you leaxn Polish?

S.K. It was, Polish I learned home, from the, uh, maid, You see, in Poland,,.
except the Very, very poor, couldn’t afford a naid, a, a, a maid, home.

L.B. HMm hn,
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S,K, But the one, more or less, had a maid and she was...ay & Polack, a
POliShg f'fomg fromg Uheeso .Villageg il e) DR

L.B, A peasdinit.

S.K. Peasant, yes.

L.B. Peasant, yeah, mm hm.

s, K. So, she, she didn®t speak no other language then Polelsh., And we were,
my, my mother was as a, & progressive lady. '

L.B., !m hnm, o, ,

A\ S.K.  Every son, except,Philip Roth hates, uh, loves his mo,,.uh, thelr mobher,

Fhilip Roth hates his mothex, but, so what can you do, I mean,,.He doesn't
hate his mother, this is money, it®s only money, 1t%Ssee

L.B, VWell,..

S.K. It is cheap money, and dirty money.

L.B., Well Failip Roth 1s not, you kuow, our problem now, right.

S.K. o, he's not involved here, and he's not a problem for me...

L.B, Right, right,

S.K. Anyway, end I don't think that he thinks that, as he wrote.

L.B. Well that might Be...

s,K., Now it comes to another part of Jewish, you see, because his mother is
a, & Rumanian, but father was a Polish Jew, but, no, you know, rortnoy, you
know what Portnoy means, Portnoy 1s a tailor,

L.B. Yeah, yeah, Ch?

S.K. In Russian,

L.B. Is that rigeht? Ho, I didn't know that, yeah.

3,K. Youl, you,..ohhh, you have.a Russian mother, and she didn®t tell you?
L.B. Yeah, .

S.K, In the-Russian partnoy is "a E@ilor", and, probably, you know, everyone,
almost everyone who got the name Poripoy was a tailor., Because, when they gave
the namesgﬁbn the marketsgy you know, when they asS..eassembled all the peorle,
and everybody, they looked at him, he said, "Do you want 1o, your name will

545" be so-and-so. What you doing?" He said, "Portnoy."Dach—vu-diseh portnoy, "

(Laughs). budsin

Yes, So, I mean, this is history, again, about something else,

Right, all right, now...so you went to this school, from 6 until when?

7l 8, ,

For 2 years.

6, 7, 8. No, 3 years, almost,

3 tyyears.

Almost. And then I, I went to a gymnasium,

To the Tirst class,

Now wheich kind of, who ran the gymnasium?

A Russian gymnasium, it was called Gymnasium Alexandrovna.

And whatee.

Alexandrovna,

That would be in about, let's seeces

Un, "i1,

In 19117

Yes.

. And, it was run by the Ryssian, what? Government?

$.K, By a Russian director, It, it was, ih, . .government, it was by the

government, but, uh, they had, you know, uh, Alexandrov was the director of

this gymnasium, And...

L.B. I'm trying to think,,.in 1911, Nicholas was alrecady on the throne,

S.K. Oh yes, he was on the...sure he was, Nicholas was on the, on the throne,

AB a matter of fact, that, it was 300 years of the existence of the Romanovs...

L.Bs, M¥m hm,

poentE
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L.B,
That
SQK.

And 1t was a, one of the greatest feasts, a feast, a fiesta.,.
Yeah,
lade in the streets of, of, of, vh, Polish cities, VWhen I was a little

hild, there were food in the streets, on the big market, you know, on the
ig place, you understand, the middle of thqéiﬁy was a big...place, and there
A

tables with everything, for nothing, And it was 300 years of the Romanovs.
All éright, now, the gymas then, what did youl learn in the gymnas?

was strictly in Russian, then?

Yes, But,..you see, here comes the, uh,,.vh.,.conspiration to teach Polish,

but it was conspirative. The teacher, who, whose,.,.who learned calligraphy,
he was a Polack,.. So he, as he learned calligraphy, in the same tine, he, he
learned also rolish, But, can you imagine that we, being...8, 9, 10, 11 years

old,

children, we were so conspired that we didn't reveal that this man is

teaching Piishg because, uh, if suddenly the dooxr opened., and the director

came

in to make, you know, a, an inspectinn, the books were hidden inséde the

pulpet, it is called pulpet also in English, I hope, Ho?

L.B.
S.K.
L.B.
S.K.
I, I
L.B.
S.K.
L.B.
S.K.

Well, I know what you mean, it’s the desk that 1lifts up,
The desk, so I call it pul...yes, pulpet.
Yeah, yes; yeS.a.
And, it was really something.,.which is hard to believe, you see, but
‘m not ‘?Jru{aé.b{' eul Y- H’-’«»j’ d’fwtﬁ@%; T el o8 7 Lﬂf%.
Fm hm,
I°m not telling you stories just to show...And I, I'n,,.
Fm hm, So you learned Polizh in the gymnas, too?
Yes, yes. Then in home, then my mother spoke Polish, ard my father spoke

Polish, pretty well, and my mother spoke very good Polish,

L.B.
S.K.
L.B.
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S0 you spoke Polish, you spoke Russiang..

And then we learned, also, Gernan,

Now, wait a minute. And you also had studied Hebrew, you could read Hebrew, .
Oh yes, yes,

Did you speak Yiddish at home?

Uh, very, very little, uvh, uh, uh, no,

You did not speak Yiddish at home?

No, we understood, hecause mother and father spoke Yiddish...so, obviously,

I understand, You sort of, th...

eo o Ui HUILE by hetrteo,

cecdcquired it, rigeht.

Yes, by heart, by ear, rather,

But you eventually learned to read and write Yiddish?

No, I, I never learned Yiddish, not to read and not to write, but

3

L

it came through, you know, through, uth...
L

S

abet in, is the same what in.,.

As Hebrew,

Sure,

But you can read the Yiddish newspaper.

I'm reading so fluently, that, uh, I don't think there ware many Jews,
» Uh, Jjournalists, who read better in Yiddish than I do,

All right. But you...so you just picked up the reading.

Yes., N - , y

“Canst, kanst schreiéen Yiddish?'(észgé%ulb?o&f?@¢ﬂlbd:l cod
N Ich schreié}". £l };’/deéviﬁ» twnd il @543 s '}&/w C/fa/,{éw y‘/&’&d{u .

Yell,; where did you learn to write Yiddish?

From the alphabet, from Hebrii,

But the script is different from the print,

Yes, .. n0; the print is the samnc...

Oh, but the script is the same as the Hebrfew script, right.

I me, Yu AP ] -

s the same, }{uumcfu//

=
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L,B. Right, very gocd, all right. So it's something that you just epicked up,
actually?

S.K, Yes.

L.B., So, here you have Yiddish, Hebrew, Rusolan. Polish, now when did you
learn German?

S, K, Cerman we learned...a little later on, after the First Werld War,
HOWeseUNossin 19-, yes, aft...in, when, in 1915,,,we went from Poland to

?Petrokal,

ey v

goi’

L.B. UNow where is Petrokal?

S.X. Oh, it wouldn®t be on the map,

L.B, Well, just about where is it? Here's Lodz,

S.K., Yes, Lodz, You see, Petrokal would be here, not far there. Here,
L.B, Yeah, In 1915 you went there. That was where your grandfather was.
S.K, Yes, and he had a house, and it wasn®t so restrict as it was in the
Second VWorld Wars..

L.,B. Yeah,

S.K. 4nd, uh, you know, he was a wealthy man, yeah sure, was the restrict,
food was restricted, it, you got to stay in line a whole night, from 2:00 at
the morning when they opened the, the bakery, when, uh, and you got coupons,
you couldn’t get more,..but, for money you always get. So, because my grandfaiher
was a wealthy man, so he could buy, you know, like smuggled, what the, the
bakery, you know, he got his own, a, a peasant dellvered to him...?ﬁi%éiu&
L.B. Yes, ‘

S.K., Floww , it was, it was not controdled by the government, uh, uh,
out,..here was, you see, uh, uh, when uh, the Russians left Poland, Lodz was
under the Germans, and Petrokgliwas under the Austrians,..occupation, It was,
um, a lot easier, you know, because the Austrians were not so strict, they
were not s0.,.how to say”? (Pause). You see, sometime I am missing very many
words, and I shouldn‘'t.

L.,B. Say it in another language, majbe I'll}plck it up. y

S.K, 7»/4,;1; Judbeae Juaicl Lj,é’» Ay cuy;uo {,u‘u/ug ‘G 4[,/ Wl Wit A0 (/fuc>

Yeah

They weren't so cuuel as the Germans, becauses..

Right, as the Russilans,

No, as the Germans, when they occupied, the second time...

Oh, oh, I see,

During the World War...the First World War,...because,..

Yeah, SO youre saying +the First World Var, they were much nicer thatn
were in the Second Lorld Yar, ,

Ch, this is, it's nothing to compare.

There's no comparison, right. o

In the Second World War, they were all barbars.

Right, all right. But they were not so in the First World VWar?

Ho, no,

All right, In fact, they...

They” were intruders themselves,

Right, I, amn T... - o
S.K. Zrich Faria Remarque wrote On WesternééaNbise, There is no News on the
WiStern, when American, uh, German soldiers”ate rats...l don't know if gyou
red,d. i'to 0 ¢
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L.,B. Yeah,

S.K, I hoped, so you don't remember, They ate the rats,

L.B., Yeah,

S.X. And the bulletins came, there®s no, no news on the western front,

L.B. Right. Now let me ask you, the, uh, you consddered then, that, this is
in the First World War...

S.K . Yeuc
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L.B. That when the Austrians and the Hung...and the Germans occupied this
section, they were kinder to the Jews than the Russians?

S.K. Yes, sure!

L.B. Right.

S.K, Then the,,.Austrians were even,..kinder than the Germans, but the
Ger...they were very strict, the Germans, in the part where, where they
occupied, If somebody did something not so...uh, you know, as, as the law
was providing,..

L.B. Yes.

S.K. Uh, you could go to jail for, for a year and 2, And sometimes they
made 5 years, and they didn't stay in 5 years,

L.,B. Yes.

S.K. But, you know, the sentence was. While, in Austria, that's why there
was a bilg smuggling...

L.B. Yes,

S.K. ...from people from Lodz, to the part which were occupied, was i%cupied
by the Austrians,

L,B. All right, That's very interesting.

S.K. Yes, s0,,.they were more tolerant...more liberal, and, the life was
much easier, So then I went over there to the gymnasium, in, in FPetrokai{ .
Uh, I continued from, from Lodz, because...

L:B. So you continu,,.you were no longer in a Russian gymnas, then?

S.K. Ko, ‘they, thqy‘¥§re..,liquidated, oh yeSiee L

L.B., lo, &tie—itis " Russian, yeah, fcsiciics -cuib)

S.K. You see, in 1914 the War start, in 1915, in the beginning already, the,

I mean, the Russian left already in 191i&, because the German defeated them and theyY.a.
L.B. Well, first the Russians pushed in, and then they were pushed back,

S.K.

L.B. Right.

S.K, 0Out of all,..so then the Russian gymnasiums stopped already existing,

and started to be Polish, because the Germans allowed Pol§§h language to be
estabelished as a direct language,..

L.B. Mm hm, Al

S.K. ...in the, in the schools; in ¢i& schools and, starting with public
school, So then we start, we started to lfarn also German in the {ILiiic
Polish gymnasium, because of the border.

L.B. Right. :

S.K. G00,..War qﬁ@'not}fcr good or bad, the next border to Poland.,.

L.B., Vas German,

S.K. ...is German, knd the next border is Russia, s0...Russian we didn®t
learn anymore, almost...but, Lerman we started to learn German, So, that's why
anyone who has & certain school.,.in Pol,,.from Poland, as I, so the languages
Were,..uh, Hebrew; when I started, but I forgot...

L.,B. Yeah,

S

not practicing Hebrew,

L.B. lm hm,

S.K. But here and there, I, as I...said, now, right now, that I forgot all:
and I ask you if you are speaking Hebrew.

L.B. No,

S.K. So you said no, which, vh, I am a little bit disappointed.,

L.B. I'm sorry. (laughter). I'm learning it.

S.K. Would be very nice if you would speak Hebrew.

LB, Yes, I°m sure it would,

S.K. I mean, I anticipate from a lady as you are.,,among your education to
have, to know Hebrew,.
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L.B. I expect that I will, Now, let's go back and see...l want to ask you,
you say you had a maid in your home, what did your mother do, what was her,
her role in the family?

5.K, The role, to, to, to, uh, bring up her children, we were 4 children
in, in different, and 2 years different from each other., So, let's say, when
I was 6, my next, my brother was 4, my sister Manya was 2, and Karola was 1;
when I was 7, Karola was l... '

L.B. Yes, yeah,

S.Ke eee3p 5, and 7.

L.B, But she, did your mother cook?

S.K. Yes, she cooked, because, because, those maids only prepared, or they
keptes.clean.s.

L.B, Ahhh. .

S.K. 4nd don't fgﬁget that it was a lot to keep clean, because my father worked
in his, in the apartment.

L.B. Right., And who did the, made your clothing, and your sisters® clothing,
and your mother®s clothing?

K. Unh, my mother, her clothing was also made by a, uh...

.B. A seamstress?

.B. Right.

K. Couldn’t afford very elegant, but a seamstress...because, we, I don't
remember a time when, uh, it was...we bought any clothes.
L.B., All right. Now, that's, so you mother really didn't clean, but she
cooked. e
S.K. She prepared, she cooked, and everything.
L.B. She oversaw the...

S.K

L

S$.K., A seamstress.
L.B

S

S.K. Yes,; yeSees

L.B. ...general upbringing, and the...

S.K. Yes.

L.B. Did she teach you anything...

S.K. Yes, she.ess

L.B, Was her role that of a teacher at all?

S.K. Yes, ves, my, my mother, exceptionally, my dear ladye.s
L.,B, Mm hm,

S.K. ...was also our teacher, our good bringing up mother. And, uh,..if I
could, would be able to make 5 million dollars, and, and to be a writer like
Philip Roth, because this 1s a blessing...

L.B., Mm hn.
S.K. You ses, writing, in mine opinion, is a blessing. Is not the one, learning

to write, you cannot learn to write, you have to born with it.

L.B. Right.

5.K. I was born with the blessing that I am able to music, and my father didn't
send me to school, if he would found out that I am, uh, inclined to music,
and I, that I had good, uh, ear o pick up, But later on, when I was 12, 13
years old, uh, and mine, uh, uncled had a dance studio, a big one, I went to
the piano, with one finger I start...you know that the first melody, I, a
little Jewish fellow starts? Hatikvah,..with one finger.

L.B. YCaho

S.K. And then, whenever I sat down, I started with 2, and then with one hand.
And when I, uh, got occasionally, I, I don®t know how it was, I took a, a
violin, I start to play the same Hatikvah.

L.B. Now, tell me something, you say you were a little Jewish fellow, You
are the first person L°ve spoken in which, uh, Yiddish was, where Yiddish was
not spoken in the home, and yet, you say you were Jewish, did your, uh, but
your parents spoke Yiddish?

S.K. Yes, nmy parents spoke Yiddish...

LoB. Were 'hhey. X
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S.K. ...ny grandfather and grandm...they spoke Jewish and I learned,

L.B. I understand.

S.K. UWhen I was, you see, 1l alrcady...

LB, Yes,

s,K., 10, i1, then I spoke already, Yiddish, I got t0...because the environment

D o
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=
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Yes, but your parents did not speak Yiddish to you?
Un, not specially.
No, it was not considered the language of the home.
No, no, and it was a typical Jewish familys home. .
No, uh, well, you're the first one I've met, it's, that's why it's,
person is so different. Now...
It was a typical Jewish, Jewish home,
Would you consider that you were middle-class?
Unhh, one class lower than middle.
Iower middle class.
Lover middle class; because otherwise...
Tell meoas
«e.l couldn®t go to a school for...
WYhere you paid.
Un, whte you paid, yes.
Right, because there were plenty of luftmenschen.,
Yes,
L.B. Right, Tell me, um...um,,.if you were Yiddish, you were Jews, but you
didn®t speak Yiddish, now let me think, I had something specific, uh...where
was your mother born?
4o\t 8.K. My mother was born im, uh, in a small town. . sRockitchina, where mine
grandfather was a, uh, landowner.
L.B., Was this under Russian, uh...
S.K. Riissian,
L.B. And he owned land?
S.K. Hee...yes. Uh, as a matter of fact, later on, when they moved from there
109 to city of Lodz...lodz, he become a'padrienchik, I mean, the man who took the,
who, uh, uh, was a contractor with the governnent.
L.B. Uh huh, And what did he contract for, I mean, what did he...
S.K. Building, he buildsit, he buildedit, , .
L.B. Oh, a building contractor.
S.K. 4 building contractor, and he was a very wealthy man, Was a lot, uh, and
he was not a2, a, ay a\Trade Unionist, like my grandfather from Petrokal. was
a tailor, so he was not,
L.B. Im hm,
12A) S.K. 7 was a man of uh, of Jewi,..of Hebrew education, Talmud,
uh, ybu know, because the old people from the vil...from the small, how you
421\ call it in Euglish, a, a, a’dz2s? ¢le)'?
L.B. A village,
S.K. A village?
L.B. Yeah, yeah,
S.,K. The people in the villages learned more than the people from little
L0ONS, fgim small towns. Because, over there, small towns, they started trades,
while in villages they@ didn't,
L.B. Yeah. Now, in your family, in your parental family, did they, uh, did
your mother light the candles on Friday night, or not?
S. K. Yesy; YeSaees
L.B., She did?
S.,K. Yes, yes, it was a Jewish honme,
L.B., Did your father go to shul? (
S.K. My father, uh, went to, to shul, and I went with him, uh, ig many, many
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K.cont. many years when I became s0, uh,..

B, Liberated.

K, So~called, liberated.

B. Right, but you didn’t...

S.K. Even when I was, uh, léberated already, in my mind, I still got to
respect...and I weren®t married yet, I still got to resp...and I st...and

as long I ate honme, by my father's...table, I got to fulfill his commandments,
L.B. Right,

S.K., 4nd, as well, the Ten Commandments.

L.B. That's right,

S.K. 4nd the most important Commandment which was, is the Fifth, which is

the most important Commaendment than all of them, which is not necessary anymore,
Tnis is mine,.,individual opinion, there is not necessary no more commandment
than five, the Fifth, "Respect your father and mother". S0..,.W...why? Because
if you respect your father and mother, you wouldn®t steal, you wouldn®t kill,
because if you steal, and, and someboedy comes and tells your father or mother,
"You know, your son, Shlomo, was a, is a gonif." Then father and mother are
almost dyinge..

775 (Tape off)

Side 2 000

L.B. Are you taping? (Tape off). So your father went to shul every Friday?
S.K. Triday, and Saturday, and the HLl...holidays. I was Bar Mitzvah, and I
could read the Torah. I was really, I, to my...greatest regret, when I meet...
but, you see, another part, if I meet now people here, who knows more...in
Tadmud, than I, I don’t feel comfortable, because I don't want nobody to know
more than I do, You see, nobody, almost nobody, and you can tell your professor,
can beat Sidney Kay in any aspect of anything! And if you want, I can prove
it, Thi& aspect means literature, international literature,

L.B., All right, now, how 4id you dress?

S.X. You know betier, you, you, before you mentioned,..

L.B., Yeah,

S.K. 4nd I don't remember...that...that you didn®t know, I was once, I worked
in a hotel here in United States, a Fifthé Avenue hotel,

L.B., Mm hm,

S.X. VWhere I started as a busboy, because I couldn®t do nothing else, Then

I became promoted to a waiter, which was a great hromotion., And all, in the
Fifth Avenue hotel used to come the, N.Y.U., which is nearby, and I was in
Roon Service, walting. And there were, almost eveby day, luncheons, And,

when we served the tables, there were students, and when we served, during
serving, I, you know, I got acquainted with them, even with my poor English,
but they appreciate. And I asked these students, every day, other questions
of general education and knowledge...95% nobody knew the answer, One day,

it%s a very, a very interesting episode...one day, a professor approached me,
he said, "Listen Sidney, I heard that you are testing my, our students, and
they are failing,. IMaybe you are going to do it with me.” I said, you know,
and I'm.,.I'm a very easy man, I like to joke, I said, "Professor, why should
you spoil your lunchefon?" So he was very, he said, "Don’t worry about luncheon,
You just alik me the question."” I said, "How well you are in literature? In
general literature," He said, "Sure I am, I'm pretty well.," I don't remember
if this was his’cathedra, cathedra, you know...

L.B. Yes, his specialty.

S.K. Specialty. So, I said, "You know, there 18 &...8 Wr iter, a very great
writer...which is almost in the same category with Amsrican, one of the
greatest writhrs in American, many, many of them, millions of them don®t
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K.cont,, know Jack London...and his name is Joseph Conrad,"

S
L.B. F¥m hm, !
S.K. "aa’Igug&fg”, now, now tell me...now, 1f you want to be stuck, Professor.
But if you aunswer me, then I bow to you. What was his original name?"

L.,B. He was Polish...

S.K. Because...he said, "You know, bldncy.o. And I said, "He, you know, he
was from Poland.” "You know, Sidney, I“almoot, no, I am stuc&, and I, and I
am scared to go home, because my wife 1s a Pollsh, and she's also a professor."”
L.B. (Laughs%

S.K., So I told him, “"His name was’Jusef Konrachevski," He said, "All right,
Sidney, you've caughd me." So, uh, and thils was really, this was, uh, years
which, which I worked very hard, and I was not boxrn to be a walter or to wailt
on anybody, not even on a king, and not on a professor, and not on a,..uh...
DATvVENnUsS. .. because, there are many pParvenues...

L.B., Do you know French?

Fol, je parle Frangals, oui.

Now where did you learn French? That's another.,.

In école...

You have,..Hebrew, Yiddish,..

In school, .

.+ «Russian, German, Polish, that's already 5, now French...

In school, I stamted to learn Freumch in school, in Poland,

That's 6 languazes,

Yes,

And then you learned English here, that's 7.

Tes, yeSes.thates.

Is there one I haven't picked up?

S.K. Unh, no, but, you ses, let's 82y I was a year in Sweden after the War,
because ny*T was taken to Sweden by C*“Fp" Bernadotte, and af...in, within
one year, when we left USweden, I had a fair: “”{»il speech in Swedish, The,
the, the owner, the proprieter of this, was invited...because we were very
respected in the...and he was crying because I made, in the Swelish language,
you know, but, you know, I made this speech with the amount, with the
vocabulary which I knew.,

L.B., Yes.,

S.K. And if, if you are a little able, you make in this, you know.,.

L.B, (Giggles). Yes.

S.K. And he...he begged me, he said, "Mr. Kazenovsky...you will get from me
everything, Stay with us. Because it is such honor, after one yeaxr, you, you
make a speech in, in Swedish." He didn't mknow that I, how is this called, uh,
manipulated, you know, woxds, a, a vocabulary which was easy for me, But I spoke.
L.B. Yeah, now let's go back,
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S.K. Yes.

L.,B. I want to know, for example, how you dressed, and, did your father have
a beard?

S.X. No,

L.B, No beard?

S.K. No,

L.B, He was clean-shaven?

S.K. Uh, yes, uh, uh, Just one, a short time,he let in, grow a little beard
with a moustache,

L.B, HNo, but that’s fdifferent, he wasn't one of the Jews...

S.K. HNo, no, no, no, it was not a beard.

L.,B, And you didn't weaxr payis?

S.K, DNo, no, it was not, you couldn't in this school, it was a progressive
school,

L.B. .»aa.aah.

S.K. It was a school of Haskalah.

L,B. 0.K. Very goocd,
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S.K. They were Litvakers, Eisenburg., If you meetess

L.B. They were Mitnagdim, (Lavghter).

8.k, If you meet a man from Lodze e

L,B. Yah,

g.K. ...brofught up in a good environment, you know, even my father, he's so,
you know, it's a saying that, uh, it was a very bad tﬁéﬁé@ﬂbut, yhich is not
right, but teilors and uh, and uh, shoemakers are not people ) W wn sctele S ie]
But, in the first place, there is such distance between tallors and ,shoemakers,
that people cannot imagine. There were a tailor's, people, many B high

school education, and were many Talmudists, who couldn't go in business, and
had to learn a trade.,,you want...

L.,B, Yes,

9., Being in cheder, and after the cheder, they couldn®t £o in business, sO
all...to go, to, to be o' mischoris, a mischora means a; 2, Weieeed clerk, you
know, and they paid so little, vou understand, in, in the, in this shops, and
in the stores in, in Poland, that a clerk who started, in the beginning he

- hadn't got a yen, almost nothing, worked like a horse. While, practicing a

W',

13,0

trade, you understand, like tailoring, he started to earn something after 4 weeks.
L.B, Now let me gel my thoughts organized, soO I cane..

8.k, Yes, get organized...

L.B. Yes, yes, because I want 1o, un...I want to...pull this all together...

$,K. So this is the difference,

L.B. You went then to a progressive school, There were Hasidim in your section,
or not?

S.K. No 9 HaSkalaho @ e

L.B. No Hasidim?

s,K, No, there was no progressive. .

L.B. Not in school, in Lodz?

S.K., In Lodz we had many Hasidim,

L,B. What did your father think ef the Hasidim?

S.K. What?

L,B., What did your father think of the Hasidim?

5.K. My father? Unh, no, he wes not, I mean, he was progressive, but, uh,

he didn't, you see, nobody thought any bad about Hasidims, in our towm.

L.B., No?

g.,k. ©Oh no,..there was a great respect for Hasidim, You see, for somebody's
faith and belief, were respected, except the goyim, the Pola%én who made the
pogroms. So, that's why we axe Jews,

L.B. I'm talking about the Jews, I'm talking about the Jews.

S.K. The Jews, no, no, even the most progressive Jew...he could go his way,
he could think as he did, Like HaVilaw baws, , ;and the Hasidim, why, they're,
their founder was Bal Shem Tov, this is nothing to do...not,..to do, everybody

respected.,
L.B. What, uh, kind of a shul did your father go to? Do you know? Was it an
Orthodox shul? o

s.,K., Uh, it, it was a, uh, a, & progre...ity, 1t was an Orth...it was shul for
Jews...out it was not...

L.B. But what kind of Jews went there? Because there was more than one shul
in Lodz, right? ,

S.K. Yes, then, then 1t was a, a Deutscheshulotsky, it was a, 1t was called
"Cerman Temple®.

L.,B. Yes.

g.K, It was called, but it was not German,

L.B, I understand. ...

S.K, They called it, the progressive Jews and the rich Jews, and the upper-
middle, and the, a little lower niddle-class, attended to this synajogue.
L.B. Right.
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S.K. So, uh, it was a progressive, where the, uh, the “chazan was nice-dressed
1

" and stood and, you know, and, uh, and he was the’ s he was the
¢ 1

you know,..end he didn®t, you know, move his...

e "‘1 R o
S.K. Shokol, they like to...I tell you about 2 SI\OKO{‘WQ

L.B. No, don®t t311 777 Lo me, I want to hear this., Go on,

S.K. You see... (@&Iﬁ wh

L.B, No, sitie.

S.K., Our Jack Koenigsburg, if he’ ’
L.B. "flc&'» Vers oy swvekol mmd.” (j: Kawew™ T 0&*"’/‘2 alM.)
S.K. But your father's not sheuding. Shokoling -

L.,B., No,

S.K., You see?

L.B

My father®’s very quiet, that's why.

S.K. Yes, so that®s it, This was Eilenburg, the Eilenburg, mine teachers, vere
like, as your father. You know, we didn°tfshﬁﬁ£é§9 we didn't scream, you
understand? (Shouts)"® ", It's not neceasary, you
can say, " ", whiéch means the same, But,the difference
is, that those Hasidim, in business, and, I'm sorry to say, but I have.,.
L.B. Say it.

S.K. VWere in business, sczupulous.

L.B. Unscrupulous, or scrupudousy Were they crooks, or not crooks?

S.K. Crooks. I mean, how you, how you say in English?

L.B, Unscrupulous,

S.K. Unscrupulous, they haven't got scruples.

L,B., Right,

S.K. You see why, a, auh, progressive Jew, you understand? We each attended
the school and everything, was a Jew, he didn't put his’feiisiE cunl KapeT
on top, on everything, which wasn't necessary. You understand? It didn't make
a Jew, to wear outside the’ . You could wear it, and I
Bore it, I and my brother, we wear it til very, very late., So did my father.
L.B. Now, your service was conducted in what language?

3
3

. S.K. In Hebrew, 1oshen Kodesh”Chely tomguet

L.BQWl It was all in Hebrew?

S.K. Y Leshw Koo', As the Torah is written, everything the same.

178, I go to synegogue in, uh, America, it°s whal they call the Reformed
Synagogue, and the service is mostly in English.

\S.K.Z

L.B. And then, there's some Hebrew, more and more as time goes on, But there
were many German shuls where the service was in Kerman,

S, K, Yes...no, the Germans...

L.B. Right?

S.K. The Germans, the Germans, sorry, Germans are not...being con...cons...
considerd among Jews, as really, truly Jews. They were...very easy to assimilate,
and they did. Even, we have now vexry gocd German Jews in Israel, but we
haven't them got here...because the Germans here, will still discriminate
against a Russian, a Polish, and another Jew, It 1s something where they
adapted togmuch, in their bolood,,.and, sometimes, and“l am an open-minded
man, and on mine, top of the tongue, is, is laying the words of...how to say
it? you know, to scold, not only to scold, more than scold, LBut, I'm holding
back, because, why should I make more enchies than I made friends, Because I
an? ke Hwl, I am.

L.B. So, you mean to schld the German Jews?

S, K. Jews, that they don®t pretend...you see, in, in the time, 50 years ago...
L.B. VWhat year, now, are you talking about?

$.K. I'm talking about in the '20s,

L.B. Yes.,
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S.K. In Yom Kippur, or Rosh Hashonahg the German Jews, they went to the
synagogue with, with thelr, with thelr karetz, karet, you know what a karet is?
Uith a horse and, and, with bugs...

LB, 0Ch, yeah,

S.K., How would you call, "Bugs"?

L.B. No, no, what lanouaoe71

S.K. In English, How would [iou call this, what, what you hace? Unh, you know,
a horse, and a, and a carriage.

Tnat's it,horse and carriage,

Horse and carriage, but I think...

There's one, you mean like a fiacre?

Uh, ves, a filacre is in, in...

In FrenCh °

Fiacre, in French, and also the Austrians called "ein fiacre".

And in Russian...

Oh yes.

Yeah, in Russian it's a droszky.

Droszka,

Ri'gh'te

Droszka, in Poligh, droszka,

I don®t what it is in Gerxman, I don®t know German,

Ein fiacre, eine karete,

Yeah,..well all right,

Eine karete,

o ALl right, par il

D¢ Wdlﬂcﬂ'<4Q”Q“°27/ku”ﬁ SO 4 went in...you un,..uh, so, on Yom Kippur.
So they stocd, they tock off their hats, but they are very, so- called,}( Hem +«/ Iug e
religious, and some of them, they wouldn®t even touch, I think, which 1s not
kosher., But, on the other hand, to me, they are,..condemned Jews, If there
wouldn®t be...a Second World Var, no one, German Jew, would ever emigrate to
Israel, and I, I°m sorry to say it, and even I can be spit in my face by
Germans, they would say, "You are an, you are a scoundrel, a’

Mr., Kay, that you'd say it." But there is, during the first Allyah, and was
the Russian Jews.,.who went to’ with, with, uh, you know,
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L.B, To build the bricks.

S.K. Yes,

L.B. Now, tell me something, now you're on the subject of the 20s, and the
Aliyah, Was there, at that time, you were living where, in the 120s, where,
which city? In your grandfather's city?

S.K. In, in between *50, between, between...

L.B. In the 1920s,

S.K. In, in ‘18 I was, in, in, in uh, Petrogglq

L.B. Yeah.

S.K, And I was in gymnasium over there, but then, was started to build the
movement of Zionists, the Zionistic movement.

L.B., That's right, that's what I want to know,

S.K. 4And I belonged to it.

L.B, You did?

S.K. Oh yes, and I belonged to ‘the “Tarbuth, and then to the B'nai Tzionm,
B'nal Tzion menas the "Sons of Zion",

L.B. “Sons of Zion®”, Ma hm,

S.K. The Terbuth belonged the elderly, the adults, and, because I was 13, 14,
15 years old, then I belonged to the, uh, to the young, B'nal Zion,

L,B., Mm hm,

8.K. As a matter of fact, that for 2 years I was the vlce-president of our
organization, being only 14 and 15 years old,
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" Now, whom did you read at that time? You read Achad...
" Achad Ahan?

Achad Ahen) right.

Yes, Uhees

And who else?

Unh, uh, I read, um...uh, A2

Yes,

I read, uvh,* Déntzon

Mm hm, It's all in He...
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am very well, very well read in the Pelletnstic of the world,
. I know, but we're talking, I'm talking about Zionism now.
Yes,

I want®s to know how did this Zionism get to you?

I was born in it...

So it was; you were surrounded...

My father was.

"Ch, your father was a Zionist?

Yes, he was a Zionist, in his way.

Yes, :

He dida't belong to the, to the Pariy...but he was a Zionist,
Yes, '

You know, he'’s a, he belonged to this, uh,""

©
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"If I forget you, Jerusalem, my £ight hand should.,."

L.B. Right, right..."...I should lose the cunning of my right hand."

S.K. Yes, .

L.B. Right.

S, K. Tasis Was...his motto, his idea. But he didn®t belong, because there

wasn®t time, my father hadn't got time to attend to, to, you know, this, to
this section belonged already people who were wealthier than my faQﬁer was,
L,B., They didn’t have to work so hard.

S.K., No, no.,.but thoses..

L.B. Right, EBut you were young,

S.K., But, I was young.

L.B. How 0ld were you, then, how old were you at that time?

S.K. 19-, 1915, '"16, *17, I was 11, 12, 13, 14 years old.

L.B., 15, yeah, yes rignt.

S.K. 15 years, in °17 I was, 1903, I was 14 years old., And we builded the

Maccabee with our own hands. There were, you know, ﬁ?olacks, because, uh,
since when, in Poland, a Jew, uhhh, would know how to build a building, you
know, a little hole; it was a, a, a gymnas, gymnas, you know, like here,
gymnasium means the, the, the, uh, "hall of exercise".

L,B., Right.

S.K. And then,..weecplayed, uh, so we, we met every day and we played,and we
spoke Hebrew, and that's why I was very fluent in Hebtew., And In 1914, 19i5,
we played, on Hanukkah, we played, it was a play, “Hannah 7 ¥ Shwa ’
is "Hannah and her Seven Sons', you know, in the time of Antilothus -

L.B. Yes, right.

S.K. And he killed all, and theY...

L.B. Yeah, yeah,

S.K. So I played the youngest son, the youngest, and the next year, 1916, I
played "/ trociucs-

. L.B. HMm hm,

S.K., And...and you will be surprised that, I almost remember, til now, the
role in Hebrew, what I played that time, as’ finticdlwa.

LB, Fm hm, now tell me...

S.KX. But this is not important to put this here.

But, the most I read Polish books, I am very well read in Polish liter,.. .

Iy
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L.B. No, what I want to know is, vh,....you had, all your friends were in the, uh...
S.K. Yes, all my friends, yes, uvh, th...they, there was a better class, the

, better class of Petrokal, you see, beCause, ... .ny grandxathcr,}itJh iﬁnahuget

you know, was a, a very wealthy man, uh, and, so hls grandson couldn't, I mean,
in the first place I was brought up fine...you know, with, with a, strictly,

my mother was very disciplined mother, very disciplined, she kept us...wlth,
with great respect for people, for everyone,

L.,B. Yes, yean,

8.k, So, uhhh...

R
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L.B, I want to meke a note, go ahead,

S.K. Uhhhouo

L.B., So all your friends...

s, K. So I...yes, I belonged to, you know, to this organization, to the Hebrew
organization, and in the, in 1918, when the first...established the Polish , .
establishment, the government established, there was then the first§ B&iﬂ Seln
was like the Congress, Segd "Seyn
L.,B. Yes.

S.K. So, uh, we started to work, you know, like, um.....to, uh...

L,B.! ., Go ahead.,

5.K., To get people, the Jewish people from Petrokal, to gvote for the, uh,
Zionlistical movement, and to have representatives in the, in the Congress, in
the Polish SCﬂnn it was called, in Polish, the Congress is called Sedn.,Se §n
How do you spell, oh, like...

Sein, sfne,

Sein, sienne; yesS.eo»

No, sein, s-e-i-n,

Ch,

In, in Bnglish it would be "sgen", but this is sein, s-e-i-n, it was,

it is sein,’ Ricwshe Sein Polski. So, you know, we went to, we run through the
streets, and to the houses, and, and, uh, to the, vhhh, to, you know, to

[ 3w OBl 438 o
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- peodle..,to get them in, uh, to vote, for Zionistical representatives.,

L,B. Now, my father brought this up, and he grew up in a sm.,..a small shtetl.
He was not allowed to play with certain children...uh, in the shteil, In other,
not that he wasn't allowed, it®s just, he knew that he sh...it wasit done.

S.K., Sure,..that they shouldn't...

Right.

That's what I did,

And those were all Jews.

All Jews, but we couldn‘t mingle, it was a...

Now who were these children?

Children, very poor children, all...

And you knew you couldn’t play with then,

: No, because they, very, those poor children were brought up without any,
uh, you know, uh.....attention, by parents, because they couldn't afford to,
you undexrstand? To, to, t0...

L,B. I understand.

S.K. ...t0 bring up, they were very, vexry poor, So, they weren't, they, they —~
weren't, they’re children themselves, so those children were brought up in the =
streets, so we couldn’t mgingle with them.

L.,B. You had none of them for a friend, &Lyou never had one for a friend?

S.K. No, never had one of them.

L.B. So you never knew what they thought about, themselves?
S.K. But I...no, but then..,because of this organization...
L.B. YeSo
S.K
L.B
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. laccabee, so I was like...a counselor...

.« HMm hnm,
S.K. And, they were very poor, so they used to come to Maccabee, let's say
groups, 12, 14, 15, 16, and we went to, a, a, a kilometer away, on the p~9“/

of the cicj...
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L,B.  Mm hm,
S.K. And, uh, and uh, we got for them milk and bread, because they havent®
got enough home. Uh, and this was the Austrian occupation,
8,B. That's what I was going to ask you, then, during this time, the '20s,
you were, then...
S.K. Not the *20s, no,..
No?
It was the teens,
Oh, the..e0h.o.
Between the "14 and the '18,
Before the War was over,
Yes, 'i4 to *18, because in 'i8...
You were already Polish, ;
Tne, in the, in the, in the, to the end of the ‘18, when the War, when
¥War stopped, you know, “America... ‘
Right, | i
America defeated those...cockaroaches, so, uh, we went back to Lodz, and
arted again,
And then you were Polish, that time? -
Yes, uh, yes, then we were Polish citizens, sure.
Right.
We were Polish citizens all the time, You see, we weren't Russian citizens,
by the Russians,
You were no citizens, then,
“SU...sure, But we considered ourse...l mean, parents, Polish citizens,
Well, they con@idered themselves FPolish, but,..
Yes.,
Vhat would have been on your passport?
I, we haven't got passports, I don't remember that I, a passport, I don't
remember my father had a passport.
L.B, Well, let's not get ahead. So you met some of these poor boys in this
laccabee Zionist organizaiion?
S.K. Yes, and,..yes, and, uh, they did belong, because they were very young,
you know, they were 5, &, 7, 8 years old...
L.B., There must have been,..but, there must have been older boys sho were par,
S.K., Yes, but they...
L.B., They didn®t belong?
S.K. No, they got thigr own life, you know, they wexe already rascals in the
street, little, uh.....thdives...
L.,B. 8o your socliety was very stratified? )
S.K. Yes, yes, yes, it was a, a defined socity,
L.B. Right, that's right.
XK. A real defined society, I, I was not in, in a, you know, in a society
here I could see some people,
K

®

o

° °
e o o

L2 D_UJL’"UJHUJL“‘UJ!:‘*
SO R W R WR W

P

L]

[N ol S ROR ol

AR o

<
o}

b b W o

e o
o e o

e

= W

When the War broke out, you were, uh, 9 years old, 1914, Did you...
« I was, no, I was not 9, I was 11 years old,
Yeah, my arithmetic is terrible, (Laughs).
\ dd oy arithmetic is terrible, You are not the only one,
. S0, you were 11 years old, Now, you were old enough o know and to hear.
re were the sympathies of your parents, and did you have sympathies? Did
ou want the Russians to win? Did you want...
K. No, we didn't want, we wanted the Germans 1o win,
«B. You did?
(., ©Oh sure, we did, but it®s no doubt,

.t“E.DL‘*CDL“
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.B. So you went south to Patmokal?

K. Petrokal,

B, Petrokal. Vhy there? Wasn't that under Russian, uh s domination, too?
K. Sure,..
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L.B. But you thought...

S.K. But, then, then the Russians weren't anymore there.,

L.,B, Aaaah,

S.K. They were, uh, they went, they got to withdraw, they were, uh, defeated...
L.B So you were safe there, because you were under Austrian protection?

S.K. Austrian, yes, and it was nicer than to be under,..and then, you see,

we, we, we didn't have to pay for rent, because we got, all right, an apartment
in our grandfather®s, uh, uvh, building, house, house. And, uh, and then food,
and. everything,

L.B., So,..you did not want the Russians to win?

S.K., Mo,

L.B. 4And, were you, at any time, there was no time when you were eligible for
military service? Suppose, after you went back to Lodz...

S.K. Yes.,

L,B. By that time you were of an age to enter the army.
S. K., I was, only...

L,B., Shortly after.

S.K. Only...as a volunteer. You see..,1918 the War ended.
L,B., Right.

S.X, I was 15 years old,

L.B. Right.

S.K. 1919 started the War between Poland and Ukraine, with the Rusfians,
the Bolsheviks,

L.B, I see, right, right.

S.K, So I was 16, 16 years old...youngsters, young men, were permitted to

" yolunteer, he was called a’ s & , voluntéer.

L.B. Yeah,

S.K. But I was not a volunteer, because I was under my father's regime, and
I got to attend school,

L N Yeah.

S.K. So, the most of the time, in that time, Polacks, 16 year old volunteer.
L.B., Yeah.

S.K. 4nd, here and there, some Jews...also Jews, 16 year old volunteer.
L.B. Yeah,

S$.K. But, they were, they were assimilatory Jews.....assimilated,

L.B. I understand, they felt that if they defeated the Russians, then they
would be, uh, treated better by the Polss, they would be Polish,

S.K. Yes, then, then...

L.B. Yea.h. ~idle '

S.K. Uh, uh, it would be +&, anyway, because, the..,Communism didn't give ndhing
the world, at all,

L.B. Now, were you, &t that time, legally, were you entitled to citizenship

in Poland, after the First World War? When, 1919...

S.K. Yes,

L.,B, O0.K.? 19187

S.K. Yes,

L.B. You'vre back in Lodz, you're Polish, definitely, now,

S.K. Yes, yes.,

L.B., Vere you a citizen, as a Jew? ks CLLr =2

" 8.K. I was not yety a Jew, because here comes a etxdasm, a, a curlasm, a

great U#EESR which was not only with my family, but with many families,
maybeyou heard, in Poland. When the, the parents were married, married only

. L o Il olch 4 n < . .
by a rabbi, chifpiMidTdNe, but they didn't go to, to the city, and, when I

got to be, 1o beceme, to go to the, to the drafit...

L.B. Yeah,

S.K. Then my father took us to the office, to the municipal, and then he made
the Acts that they are married and they have 4 children, So this tell, til taat
time, we were, uh...how you call it?
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LB, Illegitimate,

S.K. Illegitimate children, bastards,

L.B. The Po;éé did not recognize the religious coremony, 1t had to be a civil

ceremony ?

S.K, Oh, you got to be; you got to, then, you got to be a citizen, You see,

they recognize, but you got to bey, I mean, uh, I wasn®t even, I wasn't even

in, in the list,

LB, In their rolls, yeah, 3

S«K. In the ro,..in the, in the rolls of the city., ilaidn't existed,

L.B. In 1903,...

S K. Ve didn't existed, -

L.B. Tell me, in 1903, were there still Kehillahs? Was there still a Kehillah

structure in Poland, in Lodz?

S.K. In, in, sure it was, kehillah, kehillah was always,

L.B. There was, Right, no,..

S.K. Not even, you see many, you see, those kehillahs were even builded,,..

in, iny by the Germans during the World War II, and they called them Judenrat,
$0V LB, I know [omauwdibto)(s.ren pudsiie)

S.K. 8o, no, no, don't say that,..don't say that. Don't listen to everyone.

Don'*t, Because there wouldn't be Judenyats, there, those little Jews wouldn't

be left, because, the, uh...the idea, the idea of, of, and, the frachiss of

the Germans was to destroy all Jews, so they got to be, they gaboé an order,

you are going to build a judenrat in 12 hours, and you send me the list vwho,

or they appointed, So you got to be. Ron'%, don't follow, Lucille, you and your "
#3(1". professor know other Jews who didn®+ {yuct Bothing, when we were, in’%éﬁg' A Mte ke,
w2 And you went to the Copacabana, dancing, once a month. You see, I am sottolerant,

* I3 1ibveral, not every week, once a month, to the Copacabana, And hereyHuie /5dying
my femily over there, But this is life, clest la vie. What we are doing right
now, in this day of Yom Kippur, uh, uh, we should fast 3 times a week, ¥e
shouldn®t permit us, us, our Jews shouldn®t rermit ourselves to eat cake and
choZcolate, and nothing, as long this War was there, But we didnot! e ate,

ve went to Miami Beach, we went to the Ias Vegases, etc., etec, And we did all
the goed things, so what did +the rich Jew; ‘they give money, They gave money
because they have so much they cannot count it, My dear girl,; we have here in
this building, <@ Jew, who cannot count the money. They don®t know how to count
to thouscands, so help me! LThey are, they are almost millionaires, from
Canada, fofrm here, from there{/(Pause), fmd I know them. And I'm meeting them
*Uw_minute~to:minute,&%Mﬁ%&»#ﬁwi’Q%’ s parties, that they pretend thta they, they

' are,.,shou-offs. Is here a fellow’“is an ignorant, an ignoramus, a nobody,

7> and he is the chairman of the Cultural Ciub, he's.,.8Don*t laugh, You ask

Jack Koenigsburg, he will tell you, but he is hypocritic, in, in this case,

And he knows about gwhom I am talking, And that's why I started with them,

and then I talk,..the man who is the chairman doesn't know nothing about, nothing,
rien de tout, In French, as you'd say., And he's in Culturdl (Qub,

L.B. It happens with most non-Jews too, you know, (laughs),

S.K. Who cares about non-Jews?

@3 L.B, (laughing). I was just telling you, it's fuman nature,

S.K. Ohhh, Luciile, who cares about them? No really, I,,.you see, I am a

very altrulstic man,

L.B, Yeah, ,

S.K. You see, everything, you sece, otherwise I wouldn't survive, because I
didn't,....I was never pessimistic in, you know, uh, uh, inclined or pessinm...
I always got...that I would survive, ‘

L.B. Yes, ‘

S.K. I wos not the smartest,Jew who survived,,.I was not, because the very,
the great intelligent oned destroyed in the first days...as soon as the Germans
came In, they destroyed the intelligence, because intelligent people can be

the leaders, So here and Gthere, suréived one., How I...I haven't got a profession,

a
Eaidal
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S.K,cont, my profession was dancing., You see, I got, I got a, a Achilles heel,
I like dancing,

L.B. Now walt..,. now walit a minute, We got, we got off from..,

S.K. Yeah, very much offe..

L.,B, Right. I think we better go back; now...

S.K. Yes,

L.B. This is very interesting, but you brought up another subject, so I'd
better write it down, Now, let me ask you something, Now, we talked about the
First World VWar, you wanted the Germans to win,

FhrHrnbHEnHnErnENDEHEB RO,

. Yes, because they are very liberal,

B, All right, and you.,..you lost, and you became Polish.

K. Yes.

B. And then you became a Zionist,

K., No, a Zionist, I bec...l was born in it, I, I went to a Hebrew school,
.B. Now, I ungerstand, but what I'm saying...

K. To a Hebrew school where parents sent...no other parent then, but
ionistically inclined,

B. Oh...all right,

K. All, uh, uh, in Zionistical movements, send, the, to Hebrew schools, not
n chederim, You see, a cheder was the most of & Orthodox,

8. Right. S ) “

K. My father was not an Orthodox. He was a Jew, an 'erliches Mid

B, Yeah, right.

Koo A i fan,

8. I understand.

K. S0,.,.1 went to the school,

B. My I ask you a question?

K. Yes, more,

.B., thy did you not go to Israel? Vhy did, I know you had to go someplace,

when it finally came, it didn't occur to you, before the ‘30s, to go to, to
Palestine?

S.K. (Long pause). You see, all my friends from, from Petrokal, from Maccabbe,
and Tarbauth, and B'nal Zion...

L.B. Mm hnm,

S.K. A, 70% part, when, after the VWar, they went...as an Aliyah to PFetrokal,
to, to Israel,

L.B. Right,

S.K. Un, to Palestine, rather, at that time, But I was under my father's
supervision, and he wanted me to be, or a doctor or a lawyer, and I didn't,

I didn®t become none of those,

L.,B. Right.

S.K. Because, as,older I became, I, I became more, pou know, uhhh, individual,
and I didn't want“to be, and maybe that®s why I survived, because there is very
little doctors who are left among Jews, after the War...

L.,B. Right.

S.K. Very, very, and vexry little lawyers.

L.B. So what did you become?

S.K., A dance teacher, I, a dance teacher.

L.B. You didn®t becime a shneider, and you didn't become a docgor, and you
didn®t become a lawyer.

S.K. No, no, & doc,..a shneider my father wouldn't...

L.,B. He wouldn®t let you be that?

S.K. No, so then I went//.

L.B., It was good enough for him, but not for you.

8. K ...to finish gymnasium,

L.B,  Yeah, e .

S5.K. To be a, she wanted‘%h&emo to be a, a doctor, a lawyer, an engineer,

L.B, Yeah, So what happened after gymnas? Did you have any more aschooling,
after eymnas?
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S.K, I, uvh, I vh, started, you A%owIQqu I started, I made an application,
’xm?+%xm,v>Wuwnﬁw,mmcw»>»V'“deluumuahumh then 1
;. dropped it, bccause,,,o,l got in, in a environment of.....it was called"/cﬁ’fbhv <h,
 Zolataya Malesiyet, Gold, the Cold You.,.Gold, uh, Youth.

L.B., Youth, yeah, right.
S.K. Gold Youth,

‘B, Yeah, yes, Zolataya Maledyety right.
S.K. Gold Youth, And, you know, ihe Gold Youth was like playboys, you know,
to go dance, and this and that, you know, so then I dropped education,
LB, 4And who supported you during this time?
© 8.K. You know,,.I worked, I worked in a, a, a. - ° , I worked in an
. office, which, in an office, Then.,.you see, I, when I dropped, uh, % -
so I went to a school of, um, of um, as an accountaht, to become,
L,B, @Mm hnm,
S.K. And I finished this, it was a course of uh, 4 months course, because I
had education, So this was a special, so I got a job, in, in a, uh, in an
office, as a, Wi.....a help of, of the, uh, of the accountaif.
L.B, Accountant, right.

' g/\‘.ﬂ/ék. LV/«‘V 2 Sog uhlti

Where did you live all this time? Did you live home, or did you have
ovn place?

Home, ves, yes, home. Then...

And your father didn®t say anything?

Ch yes.

He said a lot,

A 16t of things.

(Laughs). What did he say?

Uh, he said, whatever, you know, (Laugh‘ter) He cursed me as, not, not
(g;dvnary cursing, but thls and that. 4nd, you know, he didn't cxry, but

LUt 1ike crying, and mother, mother cried, you know,

K, But I didn*t stay long over there,

.B. And what, and then at®night youwent out dancing and partying?
K. Dancing, and, and parties, and, and night clubs,..

.B. So this was in lodsz, right?

K. ...and beautiful girls,

«B. Right.

K., And it was the life that Riley hadn't got.

.B. (Laughter). That's ‘cause he didn't live in Poland, Riley.
K. Yes, believe me, Riley hadn’t got it.

.B. Right.

K. I would never change with your Rxrockefeller,

B. Right,

K
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L.B. Yes, yes.

S.X. But, my brother, he, uh, he uh.,....he, uh,,.he didn’t go my ways.

L.B. He did?

S.K. No,

L.,B, He did not?

5.K. But he didn't also, he did nothing, because, then, when he finished
gymnasium, he run out of Poland, because it was ansit.,.ansemit...anti-Semitism,
you know, and he, and he went to Belgium, he didn’t want to stay in Poland,
L.B., So he got out.

S.K. Yesy he got out, he went to Belgium, But this is his story, he is alive,
Thanks God.

L.B. Yes, Tnank God, Now, that's what I was going to say, there was so much
anti-Semitiscm, I EQQELQ39 in Yoland, after the war. Is this true?

S.K.. Yes, yes, it is very true, but you see..,.it is, so much anti-Semitism
here

L.B, Yes.
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S.K. You have a Berrigan,

L.B. Yes.

S.,K., You know, a Berrigan, and, and he's a representing the Great Lord Jesus,
who never eZisted,.. )
L.B. Mm hn, PaA T

S.K. %ywoubﬁufédu/ . But I am responsible, he never existed,; never,

L.B, UWell what about Berrigan? He's the, the priest who was arrested.

S.K. Yeah, yes, and then there's the other one who got to, to receive now,
a, uh, a'Gandhl awa,..award,

L.B., Yes,

S. XK, VWhat is his name? It is Berrigan.

L,B., Yeah, there were 2 brothers.,

S.K. Yes, 2, but, uh...

L.B., Yeah, they were both priests were they?

S.K. Yes, and one priest who, who...

L

3

P

B, VWho married,

K, ...before they could give him, the, the award, is refusing, a Caltholic
riest.
L.B, Yeah,

S.K. Said he's not going to glve it to him, because he made statements against
Isracl, and, so here you are, we, we didn’t suffered knough, according to them.
L.B. All right, now, tell me, uh...did you ever, uh, you were a playboy, and
youooo

5. K. Yes, I was.

L.B. ...were having a good time. And then how did you become a dance teacha?
S.K. I, I became because I was a very good dancer, an excellent dancer. So,
where we used to go to, like here, the, like in New ¥ork, the, uh.,.how you
call it? On the, 7th Avenue, the Ro...Roseland,

L.B. Yes.
S.K. Like Rosgeland.
L.B, Yeah,

S.K. So there were people, young people, uh, young, and they wanted, they d@idn't

" know how %o dance, So, uh, they came to me and said..."Sidney,’Satelc ¥, I

was in Polish...

L.B. Yeah, yeah,

S.K. "Teach me dancing." And I took money for it, and I ma,..made very nice,

L.B. Yeah,

SK. Amd then I start to give lessons.....in private houses,

LB, Mm hnm,

S.K. You understand? Couples, they, they, um...they gatbered together, 3, 4 i

@ n\ UV

L.B., You're the first Jewish dancing teacher I've ever met.

S.K., Yes, you wouldn't met another, you wouldn®t meet another.

L.B. There weren't really maany, no, So your father must have been really upset.
S.K. Vexry much,

L.B. Yeah, and your mother, too.

S.K. But then I became a wealthy man, by dancing.

L.B. Is that right?

S.K. I opened my own studio, yes. A very elegant, the most elegant in lodz.

If you will meet a Lodzer, and you say, "Kazanovsky", he will ask you, "Kazanovsky
who had the dance studio?”

L.B. lMmmn,

S.K. Yes, I, I became...a wealthy, very elegant, the most elegant dance studio,
L,B. So there was no reason for you to leafe Poland and go anywhere?

. No, no, noy I didn't, I wouldn't change my life in Poland with Rockefellar,
because I had a nicer life than he, Believe me, Lucille.
L.B., I believe you,

w
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{FA lu LL;
S.K, "In nlghoF p0~v¢dgu my wife, mine son, being 7 years, 6 years old, got
a governess, an English governtss, vh, Miss Mary, form London, she came to
Poland, she was his governess, my son learned French, already, when he was 7
years old, he start to learn French,
L.B. Imm,
S.K, I learned French in school,
L.B. Yeah, Now, and so another thing that I was g01ng to ask was that you were,
were you at, ever, at any time, touched by any of the socialist philosophies
that were in the air, too, at the same time? Now, in 1917, you were, now my
arithmetic maybe will be better, 14 years old, and there was a revolution in
Russia, Febﬁuary... . o Rl ,
S.K.. Yes, I read about it, No, I was not, I was not, uh, touched, or touche,
and, it was agadnst my, L was rather for Czarism,
L,B, You were?
S.K. Than for extreme socilialism,
L.B. I see, so you were really an anti-socialist right from the beginning?
S.K. As an anti-, as anti-ZCommunist, you see, I was Democratic Socia,..
Socialistically inclined, I was not even in the movement when Zionism, &as
a Poale Zion,
You were not?
No, a Zionist,
I was going to ask you that,
I was a Zionist.
But not Poale Zion,
S.K. No, not Poale, maybe I would/ becene, later on, you know, when you become
older, then you think, then’ you see the misery, and the, the worker has to be
respected, You understand? Uh, I didn‘t feel, even, being the child of a hard-
working man, home, but he was his own boss, my fathexr,
L.B. Yes, yes.
S.K., He could stop whenever he wanted to, and he could start in the early
morning and stop whenever he wanted.
L.B., IMm hm,
S.K. So I was not a child brought up, you know, with the discipline of you
got to be 8:00 in the norning...
L.,B., Right.

.
.

Ho et e
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S.K, ...at work, -

L.B. And 12:00 at midnight, home,

S.K. At, yes, at 12:00 at midnight, home, and 6 days a week, S0...

L.B. 8o, socialism really, um, would you say that your family was political,
really? Were they interested in politics?

S.K. They were non-political.

L.B. Right.

S.K.

i father was non-political, Then, later on, as 1 re@ember, he became a
<£uﬁx ) Ebichlsi~was a party, a new party, it was I Ydte, it was between
SOCl&lls‘b, beo ° ollh.e the Bun.de )

L.B. Yeahc
S.K, And,..and Zionism, Poale Zionism,
L.,B., Yeah,

§,K. But it was Polchiste, Pardon, you want a drink?
L.B, No, wait, wailt, let me see now, (Tape off). ...something, You know,

everybody is really different, Actually then.....you only left Foland as a result...

S.K. I was forced to leave,
LB, ¢..0f the, hh, rise of Hitler?

S.K. YC’350

L.B., Otherwise you would have stayecd there for the rest of your life?

S.K. Very end, because I was not scared for pogroms, In Lodz we have not, there
were no pogroms in Lodz,

L,B, There were not?
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S.K. There were only incidents, where a group of Polacks, you know, uhhh,
hoodlums, you know, uh, attacked a,..

L.,B. Hooligans,

S.K. Eh? Attacked...

. Hooligans,

.K; Yes, hooligans, hooligans, attacked, here or there, a Jew, But otherwise,

LN

xaﬁé@&aid attack Kazanovsky, nobody,

vant afiaid,,.nobody was L. ., w
B. (Long pause). Now, you met your wife in Poland? Your wife is Polsish-born?
K. Oh, yeah, we...yes, in the same city.,

2 (Tape off)
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